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FOREWORD




Today’s politicians often complain that reporting of their trade is too “personalized.” Analysis of “issues,” they say, is sacrificed to the promotion of beauty contests between leaders and impertinent gossip about their relationships. In these early years of the 21st century, it is a curious axe to grind. The seminal decision of the contemporary transatlantic alliance, to go to war in Iraq, was a very personal one by an American president, who had inherited unfinished business from his father, and a British prime minister, who, as the emerging record makes ever clearer, flew solo in taking his country into battle. Above all, Tony Blair was influenced by the call of a “special relationship” with George W. Bush. Their conjunction of minds led to Britons and Americans fighting, and dying, side by side in Iraq.


This book unashamedly takes the view that, in the war of 1939–45, the personal decisions of the four titans at its heart also dictated its outbreak, its course and its consequences. Hitler alone decided to invade Poland; in the summer of 1940 his mental processes alone led to the turn against the Soviet Union. Stalin—no one else—made a pact with Hitler; it was his psychological and strategic vision which concluded that Hitler would not invade the Soviet Union in 1941 and left his country defenseless. In the summer of 1940 there would probably have been a different outcome if Halifax, not Churchill, had become prime minister on that fateful day of 10 May. And however much Roosevelt trimmed and tacked before he was finally hurled into war, it was he who decided that Nazi Germany, not Japan, was enemy number one; and he who took the personal gamble that unlimited generosity was the way to win Stalin’s collaboration in creating a new post-imperial world of peace and free nations.


These four men stood at the head of the 20th century’s dominant ideologies as they collided in the Second World War: totalitarianism of right and left, liberal democracy, social democracy, European colonialism and economic imperialism. In the war between these ideologies tens of millions of people fought and died. This book is about the heart of that conflict: the ever-changing relationships of the four warlords and their war of the mind.




In trying to understand these men, I have accumulated debts. Professor John Lukacs’s brilliant book, The Duel: Hitler vs Churchill, of which he kindly allowed me to make a film some years ago, made the subject an addiction. While that was about the mind games of enemies, the parallel duels of allies seemed equally beguiling and, in a succeeding project, Allies at War, on the tempestuous relationship between the French leader, Charles de Gaulle, and Churchill and Roosevelt, I owed an enormous amount to the unrivaled knowledge and wisdom of Professor Warren Kimball who introduced me in particular to the complexities of the two great democrats. For Warlords I am immensely grateful to a third historian, Professor Geoffrey Roberts, who has offered consistently shrewd advice in interpreting Stalin which I should sometimes have followed more closely.


Many people have helped in facilitating access to primary sources and contributing to original research: Professor Alexander Chubarian; Andrew Riley and the staff of the Churchill Archives Centre at Churchill College, Cambridge; the staff of the Borthwick Institute at the University of York; the staff of the Manuscripts Division at the Library of Congress; Professor Georgy Kumanev; Dr Mikhail Myagkov; the staff of the National Archives, Kew; the staff of the National Archives, Washington, D.C.; Christine Penney and the staff of the Special Collections Department at the University of Birmingham; Wilderstein Preservation; the staff of the Franklin D. Roosevelt Library; Professor Oleg Rzheshevsky; Cordula Schacht; the Countess of Avon; Lady Soames; and the family of Edward Wood, the first Earl of Halifax.


Janice Hadlow and Tim Gardam provided illuminating insights and vital early support; Hamish Mykura and Ralph Lee have brought their great intelligence to bear in the friendliest of ways. The team at 3BM Television has been as wonderful as always and special thanks are due to Simon Battersby, Frances Craig, Denysse Edwardes, Dan Korn, Oystein Lagerstrom, Glynis Robertson and Julia Yershova.


Above all I would like to thank my collaborator from the beginning of this project and co-author, Joanna Potts, without whose research, drafts and determination this book would not have been written. We would both like to thank Emma Musgrave at Politico’s, our proofreader, Jonathan Wadman, and our agent, Andrew Lownie, who have shown that they really care.


And finally my thanks and love to Penelope, Helena and Olivia and my gratitude for their forbearance with an obsession that will now be parked firmly out of sight, if not entirely out of mind.









Simon Berthon 
May 2005
























PROLOGUE 
May 10, 1940





Just after midnight, Friday, May 10, 1940. Two imposing steam engines at the head of ten luxuriously appointed coaches in bottle-green livery slid towards a junction 140 miles west of Berlin. The train had been traveling north from Hanover towards Hamburg, but now a set of points switched it to the west. It smoothly and slowly changed direction. On board this special train, code-named Amerika, was Adolf Hitler. The Führer was on a one-way ticket to Armageddon.


With Hitler was his personal secretary, Christa Schroeder, a breezy and attractive young woman of 32 who was full of admiration for the charm and vitality of the “boss.” She wrote an excited letter to a friend describing her great adventure. The day before, the “inner” circle in Hitler’s office in the Reich Chancellery, of which she was thrilled to be part, had only been told that they were going “on a trip.” Its destination and length were a secret. Once the train had left Berlin, they asked the “boss” if they were going to Norway, the main theater of battle on that day between Germany and Great Britain. Teasingly Hitler appeared to confirm their guess: “If you behave you will be allowed to take a seal hide home with you.”1


At dawn the train arrived at a station whose name plates had been removed. It turned out to be Euskirchen, 30 miles from the German frontier. Hitler and his party transferred to cars which took them through villages whose names were also missing and replaced by military signs. Finally they headed up a dirt track overshadowed by birches towards a small, flat clearing high in the forest spotted with concrete bunkers and posts. They had reached their destination: Felsennest, Hitler’s new headquarters.


In the background the rumble of artillery started up. Hitler pointed a uniformed arm westwards and announced: “Gentlemen, the offensive against the western powers has begun.”2 The governments of Belgium, Holland and France were about to wake up to 136 highly trained and well-equipped German divisions storming across their frontiers. The “phoney war” was over; the Blitzkrieg had begun. Hitler’s unique mind had plunged the world for the next five years into the deadliest war ever.




As the Luftwaffe’s squadrons blackened the sky over Felsennest and the forces of the Wehrmacht poured down roads and tracks towards the west, a young man was taking an early morning ride among the deer of Richmond Park on the southwest fringes of London. He was John Colville, aged 25, and like Christa Schroeder he was a private secretary; in his case to another European boss, the British Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain. But, Colville knew, not for long. As he dismounted, his groom told him that Holland and Belgium had been invaded by the Nazis. Colville felt the heat of the political turmoil surging through Westminster and, as he noted in his diary, one thing was becoming depressingly obvious: “If the PM does go, I am afraid that it must be Winston.”3


Winston Churchill, who had returned to the British Cabinet as First Lord of the Admiralty on the outbreak of war on September 3, 1939, was considered reckless, untrustworthy and insufferable by much of the political establishment. But Churchill woke up on this fateful day, knowing that by its end and barring accidents he would achieve his life’s ambition of becoming British prime minister.


Churchill’s opportunity had arisen only from a fiasco for which he bore the heaviest responsibility: the campaign in Norway, in which the British navy had been outwitted by German paratroopers. Its aim was to cut Germany’s link to supplies of steel and iron ore from Sweden. But while British warships lumbered up the Norwegian coast and deposited their ill-supported land forces, Hitler struck from the air, forcing his opponents into a humiliating retreat. The Norwegian failure hardened political opinion in London that Chamberlain was not a man for battle; whatever Churchill’s disadvantages, nobody could mistake that he was the type of leader the nation needed—a warlord who had long understood that the enemy was Hitler.


The day before, as Hitler’s inner circle took the train out of Berlin, Churchill had his decisive encounter at 10 Downing Street with Chamberlain and the Foreign Secretary, Lord Halifax. Chamberlain, faced by a political rebellion in the House of Commons and unable to command the support of the Labour opposition for a national government, knew that his goose was cooked and he must resign. Halifax, the wily aristocratic diplomat, was the man the British establishment wanted to succeed him; but he realized that he was unsuited to be a war leader and let go his chance.


As the Blitzkrieg erupted on May 10, Chamberlain tried to renege at the last minute, arguing that crisis required continuity. But the Labour and Liberal opposition would have none of it and even his own ministers had lost confidence in him. At 6 p.m. Churchill’s ministerial car took him from the Admiralty to Buckingham Palace. The journey was less than a mile but the most significant of his life; for him, like Hitler, there was no return. “I suppose you don’t know why I have sent for you?” the king asked. “Sir,” Churchill replied, a playful sparkle in his eye, “I can’t imagine why.” King George VI laughed. “I want to ask you to form a government.”4


The billboards of the evening papers proclaimed the shocking news that Nazi forces were smashing into France, Holland and Belgium. “I hope that it is not too late,” Churchill told his detective, W. H. Thompson, with a tear in his eye, as they returned to the Admiralty. “I am very much afraid that it is.”5


Churchill was British prime minister, and in the drawing rooms of London and the world beyond, a rainbow of reactions arced over the political world. “Churchill appears to be a godsend,” wrote Ivan Maisky, the Soviet ambassador in London, “but later on he could become a great obstacle if and when they desire to conclude peace.”6 John Colville was immediately invited by Churchill to stay on at 10 Downing Street, but the young man was full of trepidation, consoled only by the thought that Chamberlain and Halifax were staying on under the new upstart regime. “There will at least be some restraint on our new War Lord,” he noted in his diary that evening; “he may, of course, be the man of drive and energy the country believes him to be … but it is a terrible risk.”7 In Berlin Hitler’s propaganda chief, Joseph Goebbels, who also kept a daily diary, concluded, “Churchill really has been made Prime Minister. The position is clear! That’s what we like.”8 There is no record of Hitler’s immediate reaction, but he had already formed his view of Churchill: he was an antique imperialist, a blusterer and, as Norway showed, a loser.




Three thousand miles across the Atlantic in Washington the new prime minister was regarded as a suspect character. President Franklin Roosevelt called an emergency meeting of his Cabinet in response to the shattering double strike of Hitler’s Blitzkrieg and Churchill’s succession. The interior secretary, Harold Ickes, recorded Roosevelt’s verdict: “I suppose he is the best man England has even if he is drunk half of his time.”9 Ickes mordantly added that Churchill was “apparently very unreliable when under the influence of drink.”10


Whether or not Churchill was an unreliable alcoholic, Roosevelt knew that he was now the front line against Hitler. Yet, as well as suspecting him of being a drunk, he harbored a dislike for him that stretched back more than 20 years. Its roots lay in Roosevelt’s memory of his one and only face-to-face meeting with Churchill when in 1918, as American under-secretary for the navy and before he was disabled, he had visited France and Britain. In London he gave a speech at a dinner at Gray’s Inn, bastion of the British legal establishment. Churchill, then a far more famous public figure, was in the audience. Roosevelt later remarked that he behaved like a “stinker … lording it all over us.”11


The two men had not seen each other since and in the 1930s appeared to be polar opposites. Roosevelt was the charismatic president, Churchill the has-been stuck in the political wilderness; Roosevelt the scourge of European colonialism, Churchill the die-hard defender of the British Empire. But one thing united them. They had both understood from early on that Hitler presented a new and terrible force with which peaceful coexistence would be impossible.


There had been a coincidence in Roosevelt’s and Hitler’s rises to power. On March 4, 1933, Roosevelt was inaugurated as president for the first time. The next day Hitler tightened his grip on the German nation after a slim but sufficient win at the polls. But it was not until three years later, when German troops marched into the Rhineland on March 7, 1936, that Roosevelt’s anxieties crystallized. The United States was a neutral country;its people wanted no entanglements in Europe’s squabbles. Roosevelt could only express his fears in private. One important confidante was his distant cousin and close companion, Daisy Suckley. He wrote to her: “The news from Germany is bad and though my official people all tell me there is no danger of actual war I always remember their saying all the same things in July 1914.”12


The president could only watch as Hitler’s onward march trampled through the enfeebled leaders of Britain and France. In March 1938 he told a colleague: “As someone remarked to me—‘If a Chief of Police makes a deal with the leading gangsters and the deal results in no more hold-ups, that Chief of Police will be called a great man—but if the gangsters do not live up to their word the Chief of Police will go to jail.’ Some people are, I think, taking very long chances.”13 After a speech by Hitler at the height of the Munich crisis in September Roosevelt conveyed to Suckley his visceral contempt for the Nazi leaders: “Did you hear Hitler today, his shrieks, his histrionics, and the effect on the huge audience? They did not applaud— they made noises like animals.”14


When Churchill returned to the British Cabinet as First Lord of the Admiralty on the outbreak of war, Roosevelt immediately understood that he would become an important protagonist in resisting the Nazis and started a transatlantic cable correspondence with him. In his first message he wrote: “My dear Churchill, it is because you and I occupied similar positions in the World War that I want you to know how glad I am that you are back again in the Admiralty.”15 Privately Roosevelt told the American ambassador to Britain, Joseph Kennedy: “I have always disliked him since the time I went to England in 1918. … I’m giving him attention now because there is a strong possibility that he will become Prime Minister and I want to get my hand in now.”16 On May 10, 1940, Roosevelt’s forecast was vindicated.




On the other side of the globe, the world’s fourth great leader was also taking stock of the cataclysm of May 10. In Moscow Hitler’s collaborator, Joseph Stalin, dutifully dispatched his deputy, Vyacheslav Molotov, to the German embassy with a personal message for the Führer. “He realised that Germany must protect herself against British-French attack,” the ambassador, Count von der Schulenburg, reported back to Hitler, “he had no doubt of our success.”17 These honeyed words of congratulation from one ally to another were a front; obligatory praise that masked a deep anxiety. The truth was that Stalin and Hitler, though neither of them yet fully realized it, were nine months into a psychological duel that would have devastating consequences for themselves, their nations and the world.


It had been instigated the previous summer by Hitler. During July 1939 the world’s most celebrated Wagner fan attended no fewer than seven performances of his favorite composer and then retreated to spend the balmy days of high summer at his mountain retreat, the Berghof in Obersalzberg. Encamped in one of the world’s loveliest places, Hitler planned the brutal invasion of Poland, his “little war” as he called it and one that he was determined to have. The urge for war had been building ever since the Munich agreement the year before, when, rather than being pleased by British and French appeasement over Czechoslovakia, Hitler had felt deprived of the chance to flex his military muscles.


No one was going to restrain him over Poland and his generals had told him he must attack before the autumn rains came. Only one thing stood in his way: Britain and France had said they would go to war for Poland, raising the specter that the Soviet Union might also turn against him and propel him into a war on two fronts. This was the very thing imprinted in Hitler’s mind as having helped to lose Germany the First World War 20 years before.


Now in the pure air of the mountains, Hitler began to think the unthinkable—a pact with his greatest ideological enemy. In August 1939 he put out feelers to Moscow.


Not surprisingly Stalin was deeply suspicious of Hitler’s approach. He kept him waiting, spending hours reading Mein Kampf, Hitler’s autobiography and manifesto written fifteen years before, underlining key passages; among them Hitler’s views of the early Bolshevik leaders, men like Stalin himself: “Never forget that the rulers of present-day Russia are common blood-stained criminals, that they are the scum of humanity.”18


But Stalin could see that Hitler was now desperate for a deal and offering to send his foreign minister, Joachim von Ribbentrop, to Moscow. The British and French, by contrast, who were also courting him, had only managed to send a delegation of generals and admirals to Moscow. Stalin decided that Hitler’s offer was too enticing to resist and invited Ribbentrop to Russia. Goebbels, aware of the fearful prospect of a two-front war, noted in his diary: “Non-aggression pact with Moscow perfect. Ribbentrop in Moscow on Wednesday. That is something! We’re on top again. Now we can sleep more easily.”19


On 23 August Ribbentrop landed in Moscow. Shortly after midnight on the morning of the 24th the Nazi–Soviet pact was signed and with it a secret protocol under which Germany and Russia would carve Poland into two. Hitler phoned Ribbentrop: “This will hit like a bombshell.”20 But as Goebbels noted, it was not strength but fear of Stalin knifing him in the back that had forced Hitler into history’s biggest U-turn: “The Führer believes he’s in the position of scrounging for favours and beggars can’t be choosers. In times of famine the devil feeds on flies.”21


In the Kremlin, Stalin proposed a cynical toast to Ribbentrop and the pact with the Nazis: “I know how much the German nation loves its Führer; I should therefore like to drink his health.”22 But like Hitler, Stalin was also acting from fear, in his case that Hitler would attack him. That evening he told his inner circle: “Of course it’s all a game to see who can fool whom. He thinks he’s outsmarted me but actually it’s I who’ve tricked him.”23 There was a curious postscript to the celebrations. Hitler had sent his personal photographer, Heinrich Hoffman, to film Stalin’s earlobes to see whether they were “ingrown and Jewish, or separate and Aryan.” They were separate; Stalin passed Hitler’s test.24


Stalin had found a bedfellow for whose cunning he had held a long and sneaking admiration. Back in 1934, he had observed Hitler eliminate his rivals within the Nazi party in the so-called night of the long knives and remarked: “Did you hear what happened in Germany? Some fellow that Hitler! Splendid! That’s a deed of some skill!”25 Hitler had felt no such mutual admiration. In his early years in power he was set on the dreams of Mein Kampf: an alliance with Britain’s sea empire while he expanded to the east and built his German land empire on the continent. Only when that plan had clearly failed did Hitler begin to see in Stalin someone with whom he might one day do business.


Stalin was the first of the two to be a mass murderer. In May 1937 as his terror began to move into top gear, he compared his victims with the boyar  landowners massacred by Ivan the Terrible 400 years before: “Who’s going to remember all this riff-raff in ten or 20 years time? No one. Who remembers the names now of the boyars Ivan the Terrible got rid of? No one.”26 A week before he invaded Poland, during a conference with his generals Hitler made an eerily similar remark: “Genghis Khan had millions of men and women killed by his own will and with a gay heart. History sees him only as a great state-builder. … And who, after all, speaks today of the annihilation of the Armenians?”27


For both men, mass murder was just another weapon in the ideological struggle. The state, whether Communist or Nazi, was supreme; individuals were its disposable tools. They even extended this idea to their domestic lives. Hitler had secret mistresses, most notably Eva Braun, but in public no woman was allowed to come between him and his nation. One of his secretaries recalled that he used to emphasize again and again: “My lover is Germany.”28 Stalin married twice and had children, but the suicide of his second wife, Nadya, in 1932 further brutalized him. Echoing Hitler, he once remarked: “A true Bolshevik shouldn’t and couldn’t have a family because he should give himself wholly to the party.” Stalin told his son, Vasily: “I’m not Stalin … Stalin is Soviet power.”29


The Nazi–Soviet pact inextricably linked these two extreme proponents of totalitarian violence. Eight days after its signing Hitler invaded Poland and Stalin publicly supported his Nazi collaborator, announcing to the world in the Communist Party newspaper Pravda: “It is not Germany who has attacked England and France, but England and France who have attacked Germany.” The enslavement of Poland united them in blood. SS units killed 60,000 Jews and members of the Polish ruling class. It was Hitler’s first experience of mass murder and profoundly influenced him, showing him his followers would actually do it. Stalin’s secret police, the NKVD, long versed in mass killing, would carry out similar massacres in the east of Poland. Among their victims were more than 20,000 Polish officers and political prisoners whose bodies would be discovered three years later.


Stalin had entered his pact with Hitler with open eyes and never doubted he was supping with the devil. However, he believed the pact offered the Soviet Union both protection and opportunity, telling his inner circle just a week after the Nazis invaded Poland: “A war is on between two groups of capitalist countries. … Hitler, without understanding it or desiring it, is shaking and undermining the capitalist system. … We can manoeuvre, pit one side against the other to set them fighting with each other as fiercely as possible.” He was also eyeing up a further desirable outcome, the chance to expand his communist empire: “What would be the harm if, as a result of the rout of Poland, we were to extend the socialist system onto new territories and populations?”30


For Hitler the pact also opened the door to conquest. Having cleared the potential threat to his rear, he could now turn all his energy and attention to planning the invasion of France. On October 1, 1939, Goebbels noted that he was even starting to hint at a desire for long-term collaboration with Stalin: “Conference with the Führer in private. He is convinced of Russia’s loyalty. After all Stalin is set to pocket a huge profit.”31 However, Stalin saw no such potential loyalty in Hitler. Mein  Kampf was still etched in his mind, above all Hitler’s youthful ambitions to conquer Russian territory for the new German Reich: “If we speak of territory in Europe today, we can primarily have in mind only Russia and her vassal border states.”32


Because he calculated that Hitler might still one day turn on him, Stalin set out to build a line of buffer zones to protect himself against possible Nazi attack. He forced the Baltic states, Lithuania, Estonia and Latvia, to accept Russian garrisons and on October 3, 1939, told a Latvian delegation: “There has been an unexpected turn, but one cannot rely upon it. We must be prepared in time. Others, who were not prepared, paid for it. The Germans might attack.”33


Stalin also tried to bully Finland into giving him a swath of territory to provide a salient around Leningrad as a further buffer. When the Finns refused, Stalin sent in the Red Army. It was a disaster. Within days thousands of frozen Russian corpses littered the snow and, although the Finns were finally beaten by sheer weight of numbers and machinery, they managed to kill 125,000 Russian soldiers in the bloody “winter war.”


Stalin’s reaction was to order his political commissars to the front to shoot the Soviet commanders, but the real fault was his own as his terror had eliminated the Red Army’s best officers. For Hitler, the Soviet army’s incompetence offered yet more comfort, Goebbels noting on March 15, 1940: “The Russians can never become dangerous for us. If Stalin shoots his own generals, we won’t need to do it. So far we’ve had nothing but advantages from our alliance with Russia.”34




Now on May 10, 1940, Hitler had struck. The fierce and mutually destructive war of the capitalist and fascist states over which Stalin had drooled eight months before was under way. As always the meticulous creature of habit, he stayed up through the small hours, keeping his apparatchiks away from the comforts of bed and sleep. As the sun set on May 10, 1940, he could only wait, watch and hope that Germany on one side and Britain and France on the other would spend years tearing each other apart.


For Hitler May 10 exceeded even his most optimistic dreams. He had been especially nervous about the prospects of the assault against the Belgian block fortifications at Eben-Emael. Preparations for this operation had been so meticulous that a scale model had been built of the area.35 The atmosphere in Führer headquarters was electric. Had they managed to take the enemy by surprise? By midday reports were streaming in of conquest and success. “The tension is released,” wrote Goebbels, “this struggle decides 1000 years of German history.”36 Hitler could believe that providence was guiding him towards his destiny. In London Churchill felt the same. He worked late into the night piecing together his new administration and would later recall that he felt a “profound sense of relief” that he was now the British nation’s supreme leader and warlord.37


Within 24 hours the entire character of the war had been transformed. A prime minister had fallen and Hitler’s war machine was sweeping victoriously towards the Channel. The world seemed to hang in the balance between the two overlords of Europe, Winston Churchill and Adolf Hitler. Yet, though no one understood it, they were the last hurrah of one great period of history, the age of European empires. It was the two warlords of the future watching from the wings, Roosevelt and Stalin, who in the coming five years would emerge the ultimate victors and usher in a new age of two ideologically opposed superpowers.
























CHAPTER ONE 
May 13–July 31, 1940





Monday, May 13, 1940. Hitler’s Panzer divisions burst from the forests of the Ardennes, the wooded barrier which the French high command had considered impenetrable. They crushed the skimpy defenses and began their lightning wheel towards the Channel. At midday Hitler gathered with his generals in the briefing room at Felsennest. For once he listened carefully as General Alfred Jodl informed him that German troops had successfully crossed the river Meuse.


The Führer erupted into elation and began barking orders to his exhausted commanders. They were allowed no pause as he set about formulating Directive II, the instructions for the second phase of the campaign. The Wehrmacht was to “thrust in all possible strength north.”1 The “sickle cut” strategy of slicing British and French forces in two was beginning to work. “There—at Felsennest,” Hitler later declared, “I knew what I was doing.”2


That afternoon Winston Churchill stood up to give his first speech to Parliament as prime minister. “There was usually something of an actor in his make-up,” noted Ivan Maisky, who was present in the viewing gallery, “but on this occasion he was really and sincerely agitated. His voice even broke from time to time.”3 “I have nothing to offer but blood, toil, tears and sweat,” Churchill declared in words that became immortal.4 But at the time the reaction in the chamber was muted. The Tory establishment still saw Churchill as a renegade and adventurer and his oratory was not to everyone’s taste; some in Westminster would have happily agreed with the Nazi propagandists’ description of him as a “puffed-up pig,” an animal which, as it happened, Churchill greatly admired.5


On returning to the Admiralty—he was yet to move into Downing Street—Churchill noticed that a small crowd had gathered. “Good luck, Winnie. God bless you!” they cried as he walked past. Churchill dissolved into tears. “Poor people,” he said quietly to his Chief of Staff General Ismay, “they trust me, and I can give them nothing but disaster for quite a long time.”6 As the War Cabinet met late in the evening the news pouring in from the continent was unimaginably grim. Yet, anxious as he was, Churchill was clear about his war aims. He had one objective, behind which everything would fall: the destruction of Adolf Hitler.


“Of course,” noted John Colville, the man who three days before had been reluctant to accept the position of private secretary to the new prime minister, “it must be admitted that Winston’s administration, with all its faults, has drive.”7 Great Britain was now being led by a man whose commitment to ultimate victory was absolute; the question was how to achieve it as the French army and its famed Maginot line collapsed to the fury of the Blitzkrieg.


Churchill had only one answer. One morning in that month of May his son Randolph called on him at breakfast time and found him upstairs “shaving with his old fashioned Valet razor. He had a tough beard and as usual was hacking away.” Father told son to sit down and read the papers while he finished shaving. After further minutes of hacking away Churchill turned to Randolph and said: “I think I see my way through.” Astounded, Randolph asked his father whether he meant that defeat could be avoided, which seemed possible, or victory won, which seemed incredible. Churchill flung the razor into the basin and said: “Of course, I mean we can beat them.” Randolph replied that he was all for it but did not see how it could be done. With great intensity Churchill turned around and said: “I shall drag the United States in.”8


Just a few days into his premiership Churchill had decided that he must invest his hopes in one man, Franklin Roosevelt. Over the next year and a half, while the two great proponents of 20th-century totalitarianism, Hitler and Stalin, engaged in their psychological duel which would reach its climax with the Nazi invasion of Russia, the two great leaders of twentieth-century democracy waged a parallel psychological duel as Churchill tried to lure Roosevelt into war. This private mental war embracing all four warlords would become the decisive factor in determining the outcome of the world’s greatest conflict.


On May 15, 1940, Churchill made his first plea to Roosevelt. He had been awoken at 7 a.m. by a frantic telephone call from France. “The road to Paris is open,” Paul Reynaud, the French prime minister, told him, unable to contain his panic, “the battle is lost.”9 With the appalling realization that just five days after Hitler had struck, France was skidding to defeat, Churchill tried to shock Roosevelt into coming immediately to the rescue: “If necessary, we shall continue the war alone, and we are not afraid of that. But I trust you realise,” he warned, “that the voice and force of the United States may count for nothing if they are withheld too long.” He concluded with a vast shopping list of weapons and supplies. By far the most important request was for the loan of some 40 or 50 American destroyers which had been mothballed since the First World War.10 The destroyer loan would become the first big test of the prime minister’s relationship with the president.


At Cabinet that day Churchill steered his colleagues towards a secondary and more surprising ambition. He said that preparations should be made immediately to forge working relations with Joseph Stalin. While his entreaties to America were to be expected, the Soviet Union seemed a less orthodox target, especially for Churchill, who in 1919 had been instrumental in sending British troops to Russia to help the opponents of Bolshevism in their bloody civil war. But in the 1930s Churchill had come to believe that the Nazis presented a far more menacing threat to British interests, and the world beyond, than the Bolsheviks. While out of office he had made it his business to cultivate the Soviet ambassador to Britain, Ivan Maisky, and pleaded with Chamberlain’s government to make a pact with Stalin against Hitler. In the fight against Hitler, any ally was welcome.


While Churchill single-mindedly prepared to fight the Nazis, Hitler was ambiguous towards the British; in the coming days and weeks this would prove a fatal flaw. On May 17, 1940, as his armies continued to sweep all before them, he visited the forward headquarters of army group A at Bastogne. General Gunther Blumentritt witnessed an extraordinary talk by the Führer. “Hitler was in a very good humour,” Blumentritt later recalled, “and gave us the opinion that the war would be finished in six weeks.” All of this was as expected, but the assembled officers were shocked as Hitler continued: “After that I wish to conclude a reasonable peace with France and then the way will be free for an agreement with Britain.” Surprised glances were exchanged as Hitler began to talk of his admiration for the British Empire. “All I want from Great Britain,” he announced, “is that she should acknowledge Germany’s position on the continent.”11 “If he wants nothing else,” General von Rundstedt commented with a sigh of relief after Hitler had departed, “then we shall have peace at last.”12


But, though he failed to realize it, Hitler was asking for something to which Churchill could never agree. Back in 1935, before the Nazis had even embarked on territorial expansion, he had told a friend: “If Hitler means that we should come to an understanding with Germany to dominate Europe, I think this would be contrary to the whole of our history.”13 Now Hitler was trying to impose that understanding by what he envisaged as a short, brutal war. At this point everything was going well, almost too well. By 9:30 p.m. Hitler was back at Felsennest, holding his final military conference of the day. The army chief of staff, General Franz Halder, noted in his diary: “frightened by his own success, he is afraid to take any chance and so would rather pull the reins on us.”14 Hitler was beginning to hesitate.


In London Churchill was a whirl of action. That morning he had returned from a fleeting visit to Paris where he had been confronted by the defeatism of France’s generals. Government offices were burning official papers, a sure sign that moves were afoot to leave the capital. For Churchill, a Francophile who had held such strong faith in the French army and its wall of defense, the blow was shattering.


While he informed the War Cabinet of the smell of defeat in Paris, news came in that German troops had marched into the Belgian capital, Brussels. Then came another devastating disappointment: Joseph Kennedy, the American ambassador in London, arrived with a telegram from Washington. “With regard to the possible loan of 40 or 50 of our older destroyers,” Roosevelt wrote in response to Churchill’s plea, “a step of that kind could not be taken.”15 The president’s refusal was understandable. America was still a land of peace, bound by neutrality laws passed in the 1930s by the United States Congress. Roosevelt had worked a way around those laws to enable America to sell weapons to Britain and France, but the loan of destroyers was too great a political risk. That year, 1940, was a presidential election year and Roosevelt had more or less made up his mind to stand again for an unprecedented third term. He was treading warily.


At 11:30 a.m. on May 18 the War Cabinet met at 10 Downing Street. Churchill’s confidence in the face of mounting adversity was beginning at least to reassure those close to him. “Winston is full of fight and thrives on crisis,” noted John Colville, who had undergone a total change of heart in just a few days.16 The prime minister’s only problem seemed that he wanted to do everything himself. “Winston would be a better PM,” judged the Secretary of State for War, Anthony Eden, “if he did not try to argue the details of war himself. His courage is proud and his spirit too.”17


Churchill told his Cabinet colleagues that he had chosen a new emissary to Moscow to restore the diplomatic relations which had been disrupted by Russia’s war with Finland. The envoy was to be Sir Stafford Cripps, an austere, public school–educated socialist, who had become a leading figure in the Labour Party. Churchill hoped that Stalin would favor Cripps as someone who inhabited the same political universe. It was a bad choice. Cripps could hardly have been further removed from the murderous, hard-drinking coterie with which the Soviet leader surrounded himself. But whether Britain’s emissary was a vodka-swilling chorus girl or political fellow traveller was not the point. The question was whether Churchill had anything concrete to offer and, for the moment, his cupboard was bare. On the other hand the pact with Hitler had allowed Stalin to march his troops into half of Poland. While Churchill’s key investment was in Roosevelt, Stalin’s remained in Hitler.


The Nazi tide rolled on. On May 20 the German army reached the Channel coast. The British Expeditionary Force, along with tens of thousands of French soldiers in northern France, was now cut off, its backs to the sea. The next day Hitler was asked by Grand Admiral Erich Raeder, Commander-in- Chief of the German navy, whether he was seriously contemplating a seaborne invasion of England across the Channel. Hitler gave no sign of even entertaining such an idea. He expected the British, and Churchill, to accept the fact that he had beaten them and to start negotiating a peace deal.


On May 21 General Halder recorded a similar message from the Führer: “Enemy No. 1 for us is France. We are seeking to arrive at an understanding with Britain on the basis of a division of the world.”18 Britain could have its sea empire; Hitler would have Europe. That day at Felsennest he radiated happiness: “What glorious countryside this is! This morning for the first time in 20 years I heard again the trill of nightingales.”19 In London John Colville noted: “At Admiralty House there was chaos … I have not seen Winston so depressed … he said: ‘In all the history of war I have never seen such mismanagement.’”20


The surrounded British Expeditionary Force was now retreating towards the French ports of Boulogne, Calais and Dunkirk. On the morning of May 24 Boulogne fell. The Permanent Under-Secretary at the Foreign Office, Sir Alexander Cadogan, balefully jotted in his diary: “Cabinet 11:30—pretty gloomy. Tanks galloping all over North East France.”21 One of Hitler’s elite Panzer divisions had advanced to within fifteen miles of Dunkirk. The British Expeditionary Force and the Frenchmen with it seemed done for.


Then twelve minutes later, at 11:42 a.m., while the War Cabinet in London discussed the bloody debacle, Adolf Hitler made one of the most perplexing decisions of the war. He ordered his tanks to halt. It would turn out to be a strategic blunder of huge magnitude for which Hitler’s precise reasons remain unclear to this day. Certainly there were military factors. The day before Hermann Goering had assured Hitler that his Luftwaffe on its own would eliminate the British forces, and the field commander of the spearhead tanks was happy to give his men and machines a rest. But Hitler’s long-held dream of an ultimate collaboration with Britain may also have affected him at this crucial moment. On May 25, the day after the halt order, General Jeschonnek, head of the air staff and a close associate of Goering, who may have picked up hints from Hitler, remarked: “The Führer wants to spare the British a humiliating defeat.”22


General Halder found it incredible: “Our armored and motorized forces have stopped as if paralyzed in compliance with top-level orders, and must not attack. … These orders from the top just make no sense. … They freeze the troops to the spot when the enemy could be cut into any time you wanted to attack.”23 Finally on May 26 Hitler rescinded the halt order. His spearhead tanks captured Boulogne and Calais and the German army closed on Dunkirk.


Hitler’s adjutant, Major Gerhard Engel, noted Goering’s continued assurances that the Luftwaffe was allowing no escape: “Goering reports successes at Duenkirchen harbor, says word for word: ‘Only fishing boats get through; I hope the tommies are good swimmers.’”24


The friction between Hitler and his generals was matched by Churchill’s first crisis at home. The French government, which was bound by treaty to consult with Britain on any negotiation with Germany, asked for permission to explore peace terms with Hitler. It planned to approach the Italian dictator Mussolini to act as an intermediary. At a series of meetings of the War Cabinet between May 26 and 28 the Foreign Secretary, Lord Halifax, the man who could have become prime minister, argued that Britain should agree to the request, saying that there would be no harm in seeing what kind of deal Hitler had to offer. Churchill opposed the idea but on the first day of the critical War Cabinet meetings, it seemed a majority might line up against him and side with Halifax. Only two weeks after becoming prime minister, Churchill was in real political danger.


As the argument continued on May 27, the war news grew ever grimmer. The Belgian king surrendered and the troops moving back towards Dunkirk were more exposed than ever. At the afternoon meeting of the War Cabinet Halifax continued to insist that there was nothing to be lost by approaching Mussolini to put out feelers. Churchill passionately argued that this was a slippery slope, which would not only be futile, but involve deadly danger. “We are going to fight to the end,” he declared, “our prestige in Europe is very low. The only way we can get it back is by showing the world that Germany has not beaten us.”25 Halifax was infuriated. “It drives me to despair,” he told Alexander Cadogan, “when he works himself up into a passion of emotion when he ought to make his brain think and reason. … I cannot work with Winston any longer.”26 Cadogan told Halifax not to do anything silly under stress.


The next day, the argument in the War Cabinet shifted in Churchill’s favor on the grounds that it was unwise to explore peace terms at this moment of weakness when there were so few counters to bargain with. At 6 p.m. Churchill met his full Cabinet. “If this long island story of ours is to end at last,” he announced with great emotion and intensity, “let it end only when each one of us lies choking in his own blood upon the ground.”27 His colleagues’ cheers reverberated through Westminster. An hour later the War Cabinet agreed that there would be no overture to Hitler. Churchill had survived the first real challenge to his authority; just as importantly, Halifax stayed in the government and unity was preserved.28


At Felsennest, Hitler, unaware of events in London, was watching with growing satisfaction as Churchill’s troops scurried from the continent. “The sweat of fear comes out of all his pores,” Joseph Goebbels crowed, “the great victory is waiting.”29 On May 29 Hitler took time out to tour the places where he served at the front in the First World War. At 10 p.m. the simple pleasures of the day were complicated by a cable from his ambassador in Moscow, Count von der Schulenburg, who reported that Stalin had agreed to accept Stafford Cripps as British ambassador. Schulenburg assured Hitler: “There is no reason for apprehension concerning Cripps’ mission, since there is no reason to doubt the loyal attitude of the Soviet Union toward us.”30


The Foreign Office in London agreed with that verdict, a senior civil servant, Orme Sargeant, noting: “I suspect that Stalin, who probably has a keen sense of humour, is going to make the most of the false position into which he has now manoeuvred us.” Sargeant concluded that Stalin viewed Cripps as no more than a plaything whom he could use “to annoy the Germans without provoking any unpleasant measures of retaliation from them.”31


Stalin appeared still to be more interested in Britain as a target for communist expansionism than as a potential partner. Recently declassified transcripts of phone taps by B Division, MI5’s counter-espionage unit, show that a lavish Soviet espionage campaign conducted by agents under cover in the Soviet Embassy and the Russian Trade Delegation was monitored constantly by MI5.32 Occasionally these subterranean activities surfaced in the form of high-profile arrests, such as the case of John Herbert King, a cipher clerk at the Foreign Office who was exposed as a Soviet agent in September 1939. He had been passing secret information, possibly relating to the Anglo–Soviet negotiations that preceded the Nazi–Soviet pact,33 to his Soviet handler Andrei Gorsky.34


For Stalin, subversion was a serious business. In his diary, declassified in 2002, Guy Liddell, the wartime head of MI5’s B Division, admitted: “There is no doubt that the Russians are better in the matter of espionage than any other country in the world.”35 Evidence to support this came from the defection in January 1940 of Walter Krivitsky, the former head of Soviet Military Intelligence in western Europe, who became the most significant defector yet from the elite of the Soviet intelligence services. Krivitsky gave tantalizing clues pointing to a network of agents embedded deep in both the British government and the intelligence services. Though he did not know their identities, he was talking about the Cambridge Five, headed by the notorious trio of Burgess, Maclean and Philby.


There was overt communist agitation too. From constant secret surveillance, including phone taps, mail intercepts and infiltration,36 MI5 had no doubts that the Communist Party of Great Britain was “only an offshoot” of the national party in Moscow and, as such, held a potent threat to national security.37 MI5 was right. In his diary Georgi Dimitrov, the head of Comintern, recorded Stalin’s instructions on the outbreak of war that the Communist Party of Great Britain should act as the “gravediggers at the funeral of capitalism.”38


Churchill was an avid reader of intelligence reports, but believed he could not allow the overwhelming evidence of Soviet subversion to obstruct him in his quest to seek partners in the fight against Hitler. Later he wrote: “We were under no illusions about the Russian attitude. We nonetheless pursued a patient policy of trying to re-establish relations of a confidential character with Russia.”39 The consequences of appeasing Stalin would take years to unfold. Now, as May 1940 turned to June, the immediate crisis, the battle of France, was entering its final, fatal phase.


The greater part of the British Expeditionary Force, more than 330,000 men, accompanied by 100,000 French soldiers, had made their miraculous escape from Dunkirk. “We shall fight on the beaches, we shall fight on the landing grounds, we shall fight in the fields and in the streets, we shall fight in the hills,” Churchill announced to a packed House of Commons on June 4.40 The next day Hitler launched Nazi forces at Paris and their spearheads sped across the river Somme. French forces fought hard, their casualties exceeding even the murderous killing rate of the deadliest battles of the First World War. But they were badly led and the tactics of their generals outdated in the face of the mechanized might of the Blitzkrieg.


Hitler moved his headquarters to Bruly de Pesche, closer to the French–Belgian border. “Churchill is half mad,” he declared to his inner circle on June 5, “He will ruin England.”41 Hitler was now realizing that Churchill was the obstacle to the peace deal he wanted, but he was sure that the British people would come to terms despite their deranged new leader. “I want to spare England,” he pronounced, “an equitable peace would be the best thing here.” The one proviso was that British forces “should not retain the ability to attack us.”42


Then, on June 10, an unexpected twist seemed to give Britain and France new hope. The Italian dictator, Benito Mussolini, eager to share in the spoils of victory before the fighting was over, declared war. Hitler was infuriated at his ally’s presumption: “That is the most belated declaration of war in the world. I would never have thought Il Duce was so primitive.”43 Churchill pithily told John Colville: “People who go to Italy to look at ruins won’t have to go as far as Naples and Pompeii in future.”44 The most significant reaction came from the other side of the Atlantic.


In Charlottesville, Virginia, Roosevelt stood stiffly in his uncomfortable leg braces before a lectern at the University of Virginia. In order to conceal the paralyzing effects of the polio he had caught as a young man, the president had ordered that the metal of these primitive braces be painted black so that they would not catch the light and alert people to his disability. That evening his audience was not just those few in the auditorium but also millions around the world to whom his speech was being broadcast. The president’s tone was a revelation. “The hand that held the dagger,” he thundered, “has struck it into the back of its neighbor.”45 “The Boss,” recalled President Roosevelt’s devoted secretary Grace Tully, “was enraged.”46 Roosevelt then appeared to make an unequivocal offer of immediate practical help to Britain and France: “We will extend to the opponent of force,” he announced, “all the material resources of this nation.”47


In London Churchill and his colleagues sat up late to listen to the speech and the thrilling prospects which Roosevelt seemed to be brandishing. “We all listened to you last night and were fortified by the grand scope of your declaration,” he cabled the president and then repeated his request for the loan of the destroyers. “Nothing is so important,” he wrote, ending with a flourish designed to further his aim of wrapping the president into the European war: “I send you my heartfelt thanks and those of my colleagues for all you are doing and seeking to do for what we now indeed call the Common Cause.”48


John Colville watched Churchill’s swelling optimism with a dubious gaze. “Winston has sent a graphic telegram to Roosevelt, describing the impending catastrophe,” he wrote in his diary, “and he seems to hope that America will come in now, at any rate as a non-belligerent ally. But can American support, in materials, be made effective in time?”49 In Nazi HQ, the view was scathing. “Roosevelt,” commented Joseph Goebbels with characteristic scorn, “has nothing left for the western powers except sympathy. And it’s well known how much use that is against Stukas.”50


On the afternoon of June 11, after the message to Roosevelt had been sent to Washington, Churchill flew over to France to meet the French Cabinet, which had now left Paris and was lodging at a chateau near Orleans in central France. He did not know that the day before, the defeatist French Commander-in-Chief, General Weygand, had told his prime minister, Paul Reynaud, that France had no choice but to seek an armistice. To any suggestion from Churchill of alternative, even guerrilla, forms of resistance, Weygand’s mind was closed.


The next morning, June 12, after a further pessimistic meeting, Churchill flew back to London in his Flamingo aircraft, which was normally escorted by twelve Hurricanes. The morning was cloudy, which made it impossible for the Hurricanes to join up. Churchill took the risk of flying alone. As the Flamingo neared the Channel, the weather cleared and its passengers could see the port of Le Havre in flames eight thousand feet below. Crossing the Channel, the pilot made a sudden dive to one hundred feet above the sea and skimmed his way back to the coast. Churchill only learned later that they had passed beneath two German fighters which were attacking fishing boats. The Germans had not spotted the defenseless Flamingo.


On June 13 Churchill sent a desperate message to Roosevelt. “French have sent for me again, which means that crisis has arrived. Am just off. Anything you can say or do to help them now may make a difference.”51 Churchill’s destination was Tours, the next stage of the French government’s retreat that would soon end in Bordeaux. When his party arrived at Tours airport, which had been heavily bombed the previous night, there was chaos everywhere and no one to meet them. They borrowed a car and headed for the local préfecture. Once again they found no one of consequence. A hungry Churchill insisted on lunch and a local café was specially opened.


When Reynaud finally arrived, he made it apparent to Churchill that, while he personally would fight on, only one thing might now prevent the French Cabinet insisting on an armistice: American entry into the war, even if in the first instance this only meant sending warships over to Europe. While Churchill was in Tours, a cable arrived from Roosevelt for Reynaud repeating his offer of help: “As I have already stated to you and to Mr. Churchill, this government is doing everything in its power to make available to the Allied governments the material they so urgently require, and our efforts to do still more are being redoubled. This is so because of our faith in and our support of the ideals for which the Allies are fighting.”52 


Now it seemed to Churchill that private messages were not enough. To keep France in the fight, the president had to go public and commit America to the possibility of war. Churchill sent another transatlantic cable. “Mr. President I must tell you that it seems to me absolutely vital that this message should be published tomorrow June 14 in order that it may play the decisive part in turning the course of world history.”53


The following morning, June 14, Churchill was awoken at first light by a phone call from Joseph Kennedy. His hope of the night before was shattered as the American ambassador told him that Roosevelt had refused to make public his letter to Reynaud. “My message … was in no sense intended to commit and did not commit the government to military participation in support of Allied governments,” the president wrote. “I am unable to agree to your request that my message be published since I believe it to be imperative that there be avoided any possible misunderstanding.”54 It was a crushing response.


The dark cloud of depression engulfing 10 Downing Street was further blackened by news from France. Hitler’s troops had marched into Paris. It was the sixth capital to submit to the Nazi warlord in less than nine months. 


Churchill spent the night at Chequers, the British prime minister’s country residence in the Chiltern Hills 30 miles from London. John Colville recorded that “dinner began lugubriously. However champagne, brandy and cigars did their work and we soon became talkative, even garrulous.”55 After dinner Churchill paced up and down the rose garden in the summer moonlight with his son-in-law, Duncan Sandys. Colville was constantly on the telephone to London, emerging to search out Churchill among the rose bushes with updates of news. “I told him that fuller information had been received about the French attitude, which appeared to be slipping. ‘Tell them,’ he said, ‘that if they let us have their fleet we shall never forget, but that if they surrender without consulting us, we shall never forgive. We shall blacken their name for a thousand years!’ Then, half afraid I might take him seriously, he added: ‘Don’t, of course, do that just yet.’ He was in high spirits, repeating poetry, dilating on the drama of the present situation.”56


On June 17, the French government sued for peace. The next day Hitler met Mussolini in Munich, the two men parading before a crowd of cheering, smiling, hysterical supporters. After six weeks of Blitzkrieg, Hitler’s new Reich included France, Belgium, Holland, Norway, Denmark, Poland, Austria and Czechoslovakia. “He is deeply moved and seized with emotion,” noted Goebbels, “the English are still bold and declare their desire to carry on fighting alone. We’ll see about that.”57


The Italian foreign minister, Count Galeazzo Ciano, was among the party and assessed the Führer’s state of mind. “Hitler makes many reservations on the desirability of dismantling the British Empire, which he considers, even today, to be an important factor in world equilibrium,” he recorded in his diary. “Hitler is now like the gambler who, having made a big win, would like to cash in his chips, risking nothing more.”58 For Hitler victory had lanced a boil: Germany’s defeat in the First World War had been avenged. Now, for the first time in his political life, he wanted a rest from conquest and, in line with his core instincts, peace with Britain.


While the Blitzkrieg was a triumph for Hitler, it was a disaster for Stalin. The long-lasting and mutually destructive war of the capitalist and fascist states, which he had so gleefully anticipated, was over in a trice. “Couldn’t they have put up any resistance at all?” he complained angrily to his acolyte, Nikita Khrushchev. “Now Hitler’s going to beat our brains in!”59 As Hitler strutted in Munich, Stalin, with gritted teeth, sent his congratulations on the Wehrmacht’s “splendid success.” Behind the closed walls of the Kremlin he was panicking. “He was extremely nervous,” Khrushchev recalled, “racing around, cursing like a cab driver. He cursed the French. He cursed the English. How could they allow Hitler to defeat them, to crush them?”60


Stalin’s mental duel with Hitler hung in the balance. Fearing that Hitler, having won his victory in the west, might immediately be tempted by his long-held ambition of expanding to the east, he now embarked on a double strategy, going on a ten-day land grab to expand and protect his empire while also trying not to provoke Hitler. Russian troops occupied the Baltic states and Bessarabia, the northern province of Romania. These moves were allowed under the Nazi–Soviet pact. But Stalin also decided to invade another Romanian province, Bukowina, which was not assigned to him under the pact. Though he did not realize it, the Soviet leader was playing a dangerous game.


In London Churchill now stood alone against Hitler. June 18 was the 125th anniversary of the battle of Waterloo, but there was nothing to celebrate. That afternoon he made his famous “Finest Hour” speech to the House of Commons. Four hours later he repeated the speech on radio. Many listeners, including friends, criticized its delivery, thinking Churchill sounded tired or as if he had been drinking. That evening his mood was dark. “Another bloody country gone west, I’ll bet,” he raged at the longsuffering John Colville, as the final telegram of the day was brought. Churchill was so flustered he spilt whisky and soda all over his papers.61 Worse was to come.


In Washington Roosevelt had watched the French surrender with dismay. He feared that Britain might go the same way and decided that, for the moment, there was little point in helping a drowning man. To the disappointment of some in his Cabinet, he refused again to loan Churchill the First World War American destroyers. “It is my belief that unless we help out the British with some destroyers it is hopeless to expect them to keep going,” Roosevelt’s treasury secretary, Henry Morgenthau, wrote to his boss.62 The president was unmoved. Even a letter from King George VI, who had spent a memorable few days at Roosevelt’s family house in Hyde Park, New York State, in June 1939, had no effect. Roosevelt chose to ignore the monarch’s appeal that “the need is becoming greater every day if we are to carry on our solitary fight for freedom to a successful conclusion.”63


On June 19 Colville sorrowfully noted in his diary: “President R. has turned down our demand for 40 destroyers. We need them badly.”64 This opening skirmish in his duel with Roosevelt was a shattering blow to Churchill. In reality he had deluded himself in thinking even fleetingly that Roosevelt could at that stage have made any declaration committing Americans to the prospect of war. Yet Roosevelt had made an unequivocal promise of help both privately and publicly. It should have been a warning that the president’s words could not always be taken at face value.


After his immense victory, Hitler began to relax. The Wehrmacht high command warned him that peace must immediately be made with Britain or a cross-Channel invasion swiftly prepared and realized. Major Engel noted his response: “Führer is doubtful and considers Britain so weak that bigger operations on land won’t be necessary after bombardment. F. remarks ‘that they will give in now in any case.’”65


Instead of pressing on with the battle, Hitler went walkabout. At 5:30 a.m. on June 28, 1940, he stepped out of his plane at Le Bourget airport. Accompanied by his architects Albert Speer and Hermann Gielser he began a tour of Paris, his one and only visit to the occupied French capital. Beginning at L’Opéra, Hitler’s tour finished at Sacré-Coeur, the perfect vantage point to view his latest prize. “It was a dream of my life to be permitted to see Paris,” Hitler confided to Albert Speer as the three-hour tour came to an end. “I cannot say how happy I am to have that dream fulfilled.”66 “When we’re finished in Berlin,” the Führer whispered as they stood overlooking the beautiful French capital, “Paris will only be a shadow.”67 By lunchtime he had returned to field headquarters and the disconcerting news that Soviet troops had included Bukowina in their land grab. Stalin’s rapacity lodged in Hitler’s mind, but this was, for the moment, a time to dream of peace, not further confrontation.


On July 1, a steamy summer’s day in Moscow, Sir Stafford Cripps was led from the baking streets into the inner sanctum of Soviet power, the Kremlin Palace, for his first meeting with Stalin as British ambassador. Cripps was carrying a letter from Churchill. He watched in silence as the dictator’s cold, dark eyes moved dispassionately over Churchill’s carefully crafted message. “Geographically our two countries lie at the opposite extremities of Europe, and from the point of view of systems of government it may be said that they stand for widely differing systems of political thought. But I trust that these facts need not prevent the relations between our two countries in the international sphere from being harmonious and mutually beneficial.”


Churchill stated that “the problem before all Europe—our countries included—is how the states and peoples of Europe are going to react towards the prospect of Germany establishing a hegemony over the Continent.” He declared that “the British government certainly intend to use their geographical position and their great resources” in a bid to defeat Hitler, and that he merely wanted to assure Stalin of his “readiness to discuss fully with the Soviet government any of the vast problems” created by “Germany’s present attempt to pursue in Europe a methodical process by successive stages of conquest and absorption.”68 It was a subtle and exquisitely drafted appeal to Stalin to beware of Hitler and come over to Britain’s side. Stalin did not bother even to reply to Churchill’s letter. Instead, to show Hitler his loyalty, he reported Churchill’s approach to Berlin.


Hitler now began to make his own interpretation of these two pieces of evidence, Stalin’s greed in Romania and Churchill’s approach. Before the war he had described to his adjutant his secretive mental processes. “Bear in mind that my brain works like a calculating machine. Each person who makes a presentation to me introduces into this calculating machine a small wheel of information. There forms a certain picture, or a number on each wheel. I press a button and there flashes into my mind the sum of all this information.”69 The Hitler calculating machine would now begin to build a conspiracy theory which would be the turning point in his duel with Stalin and have devastating consequences.


Back in London the Foreign Office quickly concluded that Cripps’s first meeting with Stalin had put paid to Churchill’s hopes that an alliance with Stalin could soon be forged. “Stalin has … got Sir S. Cripps exactly where he wants him,” wrote Orme Sargeant, the senior official on the Russia desk, “that is to say, as a suppliant doormat holding his pathetic little peace offerings of tin in one hand and rubber in the other.” Sargeant concluded that Stalin only had one use in mind for Cripps: “to be able to counter any German browbeating and nagging by pointing to Sir S. Cripps on the doormat, and by threatening to have him in and start talking with him instead of with the German ambassador.”70 But if Stalin, in meeting Cripps, had partly wished to keep Hitler in check by hinting that there was another game in town beside the Nazis, he was making a big mistake.


Hitler’s priority was still to force Britain into a peace negotiation, but Churchill’s obstinacy loomed ever larger. “He wants to speak to the Reichstag and give England a last chance,” Goebbels wrote on July 2 of Hitler’s latest plans. “But will she show an interest in this?” he continued uncertainly. “Churchill certainly will not. He is a fool … if London ignores this, it will be responsible for the outcomes. These will be horrifying.”71 As well as planning this peace offer, the two men were putting in place the final arrangements for Hitler’s triumphal return to Berlin. The victory parade was to be four days later on Saturday, July 6, the overture to Great Britain in a speech to the Reichstag the following Monday. Goebbels was correct in his assumption that Churchill would rather invite total destruction than make peace with Hitler. But neither he nor Hitler had counted on the immediacy of Churchill’s defiance. Their carefully made plans were laid waste in a hail of shells just 24 hours later.


At 5:55 p.m. on July 3, 1940, at the port of Oran in French Algeria, the British navy attacked the most modern warships of its former ally, France. Churchill, who was determined to remove the French fleet from the war, had given an ultimatum to the French admiral: sail to Britain, sail to America, or scuttle your ships. At the appointed hour there was no clear response and the Royal Navy opened fire. By 6:04 p.m. 1,250 French soldiers were dead and three battleships were ablaze. It was a daring move that caused horrific destruction. Churchill told John Colville the French were now fighting with all their vigor for the first time since war broke out.


The next day Churchill went to the House of Commons to explain the attack on a nation which only two weeks before had been Britain’s main ally. “The premier was visibly agitated,” noted Ivan Maisky, who was watching the scene from inside the chamber. “The members listened to him with bated breath.”72 “However painful,” Churchill declared, “the action we have already taken should be, in itself, sufficient to dispose once and for all of the lies and Fifth Column activities that we have the slightest intention of entering into negotiations,” he thundered. “We shall prosecute the war with the utmost vigour by all the means that are open to us.”73


Inside the Commons the response was remarkable. “When Churchill finished,” Maisky explained excitedly, “there took place a scene which ‘old hands’ in Parliament told me, had never occurred before: all the members with one accord, in a kind of spontaneous outburst, sprang up and gave the premier a real ovation.”74 It was a message intended not just for the British people, but for the world beyond, including present enemies and potential friends, the most important among them the American president.


Roosevelt was in the White House, looking forward to a rest at Hyde Park, the scenic family estate by the Hudson River. He had declared just days before that Britain’s chances of survival were merely 50-50; now he bestowed on Churchill much better odds.75 The prime minister’s bold strike at Oran impressed Roosevelt immeasurably, particularly as he had become obsessed by the possibility of the French fleet falling into Nazi hands.76 He let the British embassy in Washington know that he approved.


On July 6 Hitler made his triumphal return to Berlin. “Overhead is a wonderful July sun. A real day of celebration,” Goebbels noted in breathless awe, “the streets are strewn with flowers like a bright carpet. An unimaginable ecstasy fills the city.” Thousands of people had been waiting more than six hours by the time Hitler’s train pulled into the Anhalter station at 3 p.m. Goebbels enthusiastically described the mood of elation: “A roar of joy fills the station. The Führer is very moved. Tears come into his eyes. Our Führer!”77 Cheering crowds, their enthusiasm wholly spontaneous and surpassing any of the prewar victory parades, followed Hitler along the whole of his drive to the Reich Chancellery.


However, in the midst of his triumph, Hitler was increasingly tormented by one overriding thought. As far as he was concerned, he had won the war. So why did the British not recognize that fact and make peace with him? Why instead were they carrying on their fight, even advertising their determination with the action at Oran? Hitler began to convince himself that there must be some external factor on which Britain—and Churchill— were relying.


A few days after the glory of Berlin General Halder recorded a major development in Hitler’s thinking: “The Führer is greatly puzzled by Britain’s persisting unwillingness to make peace. He sees the answer in Britain’s hope in Russia.”78 Hitler was beginning to believe that Churchill was holding out because he had a secret deal in the offing with Stalin. His building conspiracy theory was standing in the way of clear decision-making. “The Führer is as indecisive as never before and doesn’t know what to do or how to do it,” recorded Engel.79 Churchill gave Colville an uncannily accurate insight into his Nazi opponent’s dilemma: “The PM keeps on repeating that ‘Hitler must invade or fail. If he fails he is bound to go east, and fail he will.’”80


On July 16 Hitler finally signed Directive No. 16 for Preparations of a Landing Operation against England. “I have determined,” he claimed, “to prepare a landing operation against England.” This was, he stated, “since England … still gives no recognizable signs of readiness to come to terms.” Despite the hopes of his generals, rhetoric outweighed reality. The Supreme Command did not take the order seriously, and Hitler told Goering in private that he had no intention of carrying out the invasion.81 Instead, he continued to work on one last appeal to the British to make peace.


Three days later, for the second time in a fortnight, Hitler paraded through Berlin to the sound of jackboots and the gleam of helmets. This time his destination was the Reichstag, finally to deliver the much-delayed speech on which he had been working so painstakingly. He saw Churchill, in Goebbels’ words, as “a raging fool who had burned his bridges.”82 But the British people might still be open to persuasion. “Mr. Churchill,” Hitler declared in a tone that was intended to convey reason rather than rant, “has repeated that he wants war. Mr. Churchill should place trust in me when as a prophet I now proclaim: a great world empire will be destroyed—a world empire which I never had the ambition to destroy, or as much as harm. Alas, I am aware that the continuation of this war will end only in the complete shattering of one of the two warring parties. Mr. Churchill may believe this to be Germany. I know it to be England. In this hour I feel compelled, standing before my conscience, to direct yet another appeal to reason in England. I see no compelling reason which could force the continuation of this war.”83 It was a prophecy of great accuracy, except in its conclusion.


“Hitler speaks simply, and, I should say also, in an unusually humane tone,” observed Ciano, who had come to Berlin for the great occasion. “I believe his desire for peace is sincere.”84 When asked by a colleague whether he planned to respond, Churchill was curt. “I do not,” he said, “propose to say anything in reply to Herr Hitler’s speech, not being on speaking terms with him.”85 Ciano recorded: “Late in the evening, when the first cold British reactions to the speech arrive, a sense of unconcealed disappointment spreads among the Germans.”86


That day, by pure coincidence, Franklin Roosevelt was nominated as Democratic candidate for president for an unprecedented third term. He had preferred to stay away from the party convention, wishing to be drafted as candidate rather than be seen to be campaigning for it. His acceptance speech was read out in his absence and contained a coded attack on Nazi aggression: “The fact which dominates our world is the fact of armed aggression, of successful armed aggression, aimed at the form of government, the kind of society that we in the United States have chosen and established for ourselves.”87 It was another wheel of information for Hitler’s calculating machine of a mind to slot into place. He was now seeing specters across the globe.


On July 22 Hitler pieced together all these factors into an interim assessment for his generals. “The reasons for continuation of war by Britain,” Hitler told them. “One: it hopes for a change in America … Two: it puts hope in Russia. Stalin is flirting with Britain to keep her in the war and tie us down.”88 Nothing could have been further from the truth. The delusion was mounting every day.


The next day Hitler went to see Götterdämmerung at the Bayreuth Festival. The summer before he had the time to see seven Wagner operas; this year he only saw one. Then he was excited as he prepared to invade Poland; now frustrated as his unwanted war with Britain dragged on. Götterdämmerung  ends with the destruction of Valhalla, the mythical home of the gods. But whose destruction would Hitler bring about on earth? He retreated to the mountains of Obersalzberg. “We are waiting and waiting,” Goebbels complained, “when will the Führer launch the attack on England?”89 In London there was increasing confidence that it was not going to happen. “At the risk of being proved wrong tomorrow morning (which I don’t mind),”

 noted Alexander Cadogan, “I do not think Hitler is going to be fool enough to attempt an invasion.”90


On July 31, six weeks after the fall of France, Churchill wrote to Roosevelt to ask yet again for the loan of the First World War destroyers: “Mr. President, with great respect I must tell you that in the long history of the world, this is a thing to do now.”91 Circumstances had changed. The shock of Hitler’s conquests had forced many Americans into a rethink about the cataclysm in Europe and the prospect of a rampant Hitler. Opinion polls showed that the number willing to help Britain, even if it meant the United States being dragged into the war, had jumped from 30 to 60 percent. Roosevelt could see that Churchill and the British intended to fight on, come what may. He viewed Churchill’s request with renewed sympathy.


On that same day, as the prime minister’s letter was telegraphed across the Atlantic, a momentous conference was under way at the Berghof. At 11:30 a.m. Hitler walked into the meeting room at his mountain retreat. The air was clear and bright and his sense of unwavering confidence had returned. He announced to his generals the result of weeks of agonized reflection. “Russia is the factor on which Britain is relying the most,” he concluded. “Something must have happened in London. The British were completely down; now they have perked up again. With Russia smashed, Britain’s last hope would be shattered. The sooner Russia is crushed the better. If we start in May 1941, we would have five months to finish the job.”92


It was as yet only a plan, should all other means of bringing the British to heel fail. But two enormous delusions, the first that he had already won the war, the second that some secret deal was brewing between Britain and Russia, were leading Hitler down the road to catastrophe.






















CHAPTER TWO 
August 1, 1940–March 26, 1941



August 1, 1940, Moscow. A year after the Nazi–Soviet pact had shocked the world and one day after Adolf Hitler had planted the seeds for an invasion of Russia, Joseph Stalin offered a public riposte to anyone who doubted the longevity of his collaboration with the Nazi leader. Vyacheslav Molotov, often deployed as his mouthpiece, was dispatched to the Supreme Soviet to make a speech. “Our relations with Germany,” Molotov informed the party faithful, “which were radically changed nearly a year ago, remain entirely as laid down in the Soviet–German agreement.”1 Stalin could feel a certain satisfaction. In the previous weeks he had expanded the Soviet empire by incorporating the Baltic states and two provinces of Romania, and Hitler still appeared to be on side.


At the Berghof, as the late summer sun glinted on high glacial strips, the Führer had just signed Directive No. 17. “In order to create the conditions to defeat Britain, I intend,” he promised his generals, “to carry out the air and naval war against the British homeland more keenly than previously.”2 Despite his pronouncements on Russia of the day before, the key tactic remained to force the British to make peace without the dangers of a cross- Channel invasion.


Under cover of darkness a swarm of German planes headed over the Channel. Over the south coast of England the pilots steered themselves above carefully chosen targets and hundreds of bundles were ejected. As the shadowy objects plummeted to the ground Hitler’s airmen made quickly for home. These were not bombs, however, but leaflets, copies of Hitler’s final appeal for peace. It confirmed the view in Churchill’s inner circle that the Nazis were sidestepping a direct assault. “It looks as if the military authorities are becoming more doubtful of their ability to invade us rapidly and successfully,” observed John Colville as the news of this peculiar bombing raid reached No. 10.3 It was a Friday and the prime minister was preparing for a weekend at Chequers. Even if he personally believed there would be no invasion, he wanted his nation to keep up its guard. He began work on an article for the Sunday papers warning that peaceful noises from Berlin meant nothing.


That same morning President Roosevelt received a stinging memo from his interior secretary, Harold Ickes, protesting at the United States’ failure to help the British. “It seems to me that we Americans are like the householder who refuses to lend or sell his fire extinguishers to help put out the fire in the house that is right next door,” Ickes complained, “although that house is all ablaze and the wind is blowing from that direction.”4 Ickes imagined, as had happened before, that the president would brush his complaint politely under the carpet; that afternoon he set out for the weekly cabinet meeting determined to press his case. What he did not know was that, in response to Churchill’s repeated request for the destroyer loan, Roosevelt was having a change of heart.


“It was the general opinion, without any dissenting voice,” the president recorded, “that the survival of the British Isles under German attack might very possibly depend on their getting these destroyers. It was agreed that legislation to accomplish this is necessary.”5 However, Roosevelt intended to attach strings to his offer. One was a written guarantee from Churchill that, should the Nazis appear to be on the verge of a successful invasion of Britain, the ships of the British navy “would not be sunk, but would sail for North American or British Empire ports where they would remain afloat and available.”6 “I think you will feel with me,” Roosevelt replied to Ickes, “that we made real progress today.”7 Lord Lothian, the British ambassador in Washington, was approached that afternoon with details of Roosevelt’s offer and he telegraphed them urgently to London. Roosevelt also declared that some kind of trade would have to be made with the British to satisfy the Republicans in the United States Congress.


Hitler had called for the intensification of the air offensive against Britain to begin on August 5, 1940; the weather stepped in and delayed the attack. One project was stalled, but that same day he was presented with plans for the potential invasion of Russia. General Erich Marcks, who had been designated to draw up a blueprint, envisaged 147 German divisions launching an attack that would secure victory within a mere seventeen weeks.


On August 6 Churchill, after an invigorating weekend in the countryside, was examining Lord Lothian’s cable and a follow-up telegram from the president. The very suggestion that the British could ever be conquered by Hitler put him into a cantankerous mood. “Winston was in a nervous and irritable frame of mind in the evening,” John Colville noted. “He refuses to contemplate a promise to give Canada, and thus the US, a lien on our warships if these islands are conquered and brands any such proposal as defeatism.”8 “Pray make it clear at once,” Churchill telegraphed to Lothian the next day, “that we could never agree to the slightest compromise of our full liberty of action, nor tolerate any such defeatist notion, the effect of which would be disastrous.”9


There was a further unpalatable condition. To keep Congress sweet, the president was adamant that the loan of military hardware be given the appearance of a quid pro quo. He asked Churchill to lease a set of British naval bases in the Caribbean and Newfoundland to the United States for 99 years in return for the mothballed First World War destroyers. Churchill did not mind the Americans having the bases but felt humiliated that it should be made to appear a trade. In a transatlantic phone call with the American Attorney General, Robert Jackson, he remarked: “Empires just don’t bargain.” Jackson replied: “Republics do.”10


Despite the frustrations, the door to American aid was at least opening. In Moscow the chance of any meaningful link with Russia remained frozen as Sir Stafford Cripps endured a fruitless meeting with Molotov. Stalin’s foreign minister listed eight reasons why the USSR was not at that moment contemplating an alliance with Great Britain, foremost on his inventory being the territorial gains the Soviet Union had been able to accomplish with the blessing of its German allies. “Agreements with Germany have thus been of real value; Soviet interests are protected by these pacts and agreements,” Molotov declared. Cripps listened in abject silence as Molotov explained that the Nazi–Soviet pact had “facilitated the adjustment of our relations with the Baltic states.”11 The inference was clear: to make any kind of progress the British government would have to recognize the new Soviet boundaries and spheres of influence.


On that Tuesday afternoon Churchill was in a foul temper, irritated by an interruption of his traditional after-lunch nap. A greater threat to his peace of mind then arrived as the weather allowed Operation “Eagle,” the result of Hitler’s Directive No. 17, to get under way. Some 1,485 German fighter planes flew sorties against British aircraft factories and other installations vital to the war effort. It was a dramatic show of force and a major escalation in the air raids Britain had been sporadically enduring since July. “What is the motive of these gigantic daylight raids,” Colville asked anxiously, “are they reconnaissance in force, or a diversion, or just the cavalry attack before the main offensive?”12 There was some comfort to be gleaned from what seemed at first to be a bleak afternoon. Though they were outnumbered, Fighter Command claimed it had shot down a total of 45 German aircraft for the loss of only thirteen British planes.
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